TURNER FAMILY

· INFO FROM Leverstock Green CHRONICLE

17th Century:

Associated with Blackwater Pond House: 

Thomas Wells; Thomas Feilde; Various members of the Feilde or Field family; Abraham Turner. [HALS IN13, IN22-23; IN31-IN33b]

1696 - Survey of Samuel Grimston's Estate -  Document no. IA 68 held at the Hertfordshire Record Office is the original survey undertaken in that year of Samuel Grimston's Estate.  It is an extremely valuable document as it shows in exact detail all the property owned by Sir Samuel Grimston at this time. It is particularly charming because on the reverse of most of the pages giving a breakdown of the fields etc... belonging to each farm on the estate, is a hand drawn map showing the area in question.  These ink maps are charmingly reminiscent of primary school childrens' maps, with pictures of the homesteads, and trees, and carefully drawn five-bar gates at the entrance to the fields. (Examples of which are reproduced with this text by kind permission of the Hertfordshire Record Office.)

The document as a whole is made up of individual pages, each representing a separate farm or holding on the estate.  These are all bound together to give a final appearance not unlike a modern reporter's notebook, only of foolscap size. The document is unlike the previous surveys and rentals of the estate, as they give information per farm unit rather than per individual. In itself this is also a pointer to the social changes which had been occurring in the neighbourhood (as well as nationally), with the land and farms now being owned by large landowners (or squires) rather than being shared out amongst many individuals.  In this instance it was Sir Samuel Grimston and his predecessor Sir Harbottle, who had bought up the freeholds and copyholds so that they now controlled the area. The era of the tenant farmer rather than the yeoman farmer had arrived!

The individual holdings relevant to our study area, and contained within the above survey are summarised below. They are as follows: Westwick Hall; Hillend; Wards, or Bottom House; Breakspears; Westwick ( now known as Westwick Row Farm ); Hangmans Croft (shown on some early maps as Gossoms; Blackwater; The Manor of Market Oak & Westwick alias Leveslystock alias Market-Dole. (See map showing the sites of the principle dwellings listed, reproduced in Chambersbury News August 1995.) 

I shall give a brief  summary of the information given for each one.  In each case a breakdown of some of the individual fields is given together with its size in Acres Rods and Poles, as well as the name of the tenant and the annual rent paid. I shall not list all the details in the summary, but photocopies of the originals are held at the Library should you wish to refer to them. I shall include as many maps as possible with this text, with the kind permission of the Hertfordshire Record Office.  It is also worth noting that now that most of the land was the freehold property of the Grimstons, as farm lets were reassessed every 21 years or so, the exact fields belonging to a particular farm were varied, with a tendency to give more land to the tenants of Westwick Hall and its farm.

BLACKWATER: This entry is of particular interest to me as the map accompanying this entry shows clearly the kink in Blackwater Lane which led me to compile this history!    It would appear that the house was roughly where the water tower is today.  Looking at the way the map is drawn it would appear that  Blackwater Lane led down from the Hempstead Road, turning in to the south side of the house.  The lane also led up from the Bedmond Road  (called Langley Road on this map) , joining the original driveway at the place where the bend or kink is.  Blackwater Wood, although shown, was not part of this holding, but part of the holding of Sir Samuel Grimston himself.  The annual rent for the farm was £60, and the tenant was Abraham Turner, who was given the lease from Michaelmas 1680 for 21 years.  Part of this holding included two seven acre fields adjoining the Bedmond Road called Further Market land and Hither market land. The total acreage of the holding was  over 117 acres. Most of the field names were still in used for the tithe survey of 1843. The map, kindly reproduced with the permission of the Hertfordshire Record Office , is shown on page-----.                       

1784 Militia List: John Turner, a cordwainer from Leverstock Green; 
18TH cENTURY: Associated with Leverstock Green Farm were: Christopher Thomas Tower, James Preston, William Turner, Isaac Turner,…….

1st March 1804 - William Turner acquired the farm lease of Leverstock Green Farm. It is interesting to note that several repairs obviously needed to be undertaken , and that a barn was to be pulled down: ....."take the present repairs of the said Farm upon himself and perform the same according to the Estimates thereof lately taken, such repairs to be completed in good and substancial manner by or before the 24th June next.  The said William Turner being also allowed to use the materials from the Old Barn to be pulled down & the building at the End of the House as far as they go and having sufficient Timber assigned for the New Barn Floor & new  Lathing where necessary & for Gates and Posts & such weathering Boarding and paling as the materials above mentioned will not supply."The lease was eventually passed on to William's son Isaac, who didn't release it until 1824.  (Further notes and transcription concerning this transaction are contained in a separate appendix.) [HALS 80782 & 80783]

1813- Under the Toleration Acts of 1688-1852 a place was registered for dissenting worship somewhere in Leverstock Green.  Members of the Tarbox family ( this registration was witnessed by Humphrey Tarbox), were later buried in Leverstock Green Churchyard, as despite there being a Baptist chapel in the village from 1841, the registered burial ground was on the Church of England premises."Hemel Hempstead. The Tenemant of Humphrey Tarbox, for Protestants, February 4th 1813. Certified by Humphrey Tarbox - his mark witnessed by Joseph Turner."  [ S48 ]

29th June 1824 - John Groom, corndealer, acquired a seven year lease on Leverstock Green Farm.     "Christopher Thomas Towers hath demised leased and farm letten All that Messuage or Tenement Farm and Lands......64 acres more or less.........late in the occupation of Isaac Turner now of the said John Groom."

1840 – nothing in any of the Tithe apportionments for the sections of the parishes in Leverstock Green .

 1851 Census for Hemel Hempstead  

	TURNER
	George
	44
	Little Coxs Pond
	Head
	Mar
	34
	M
	Police Constable
	C
	7
	251
	PP06
	11
	Herts
	Bushey

	TURNER
	Harriet
	44
	Little Coxs Pond
	Wife
	Mar
	25
	F
	Dressmaker
	C
	4
	350
	MF23
	2
	Suffolk
	Stowlangtoft

	TURNER
	Caroline
	44
	Little Coxs Pond
	Dau
	
	8
	F
	Scholar
	C
	13
	970
	ZZ01
	17
	Herts
	Hemel Hempstead

	TURNER
	George
	44
	Little Coxs Pond
	Son
	
	3
	M
	
	C
	13
	970
	ZZ01
	17
	Herts
	St.Michaels


	Police Constable
	C
	7
	251
	PP06
	11
	Herts
	Bushey

	Dressmaker
	C
	4
	350
	MF23
	2
	Suffolk
	Stowlangtoft

	Scholar
	C
	13
	970
	ZZ01
	17
	Herts
	Hemel Hempstead

	
	C
	13
	970
	ZZ01
	17
	Herts
	St.Michaels


March 1876 - The school log book listed the following 50 pupils at the school for their exam schedule:……………… Turner F.,
1881 census St. Michaels

	Turner
	Henry
	Farm House
	u
	servant
	18
	 
	m
	St. Michaels


Abbots Langley

	Turner
	Daniel
	Market Oak (Leverstock Green Road)
	m
	Head
	51
	 
	m
	Buckingham

	Turner
	Elizabeth
	Market Oak
	m
	wife
	50
	 
	f
	Kings Langley

	Turner
	Sarah
	Market Oak
	u
	daughter
	19
	 
	f
	Abbots Langley

	Turner
	Frederick
	Market Oak
	u
	son
	13
	 
	m
	Abbots Langley

	Turner
	John
	Market Oak
	u
	son
	8
	 
	m
	Abbots Langley

	Turner
	Alice
	Market Oak
	u
	daughter
	6
	 
	f
	Abbots Langley


	Buckingham
	Agricultural Labourer

	Kings Langley
	 

	Abbots Langley
	 

	Abbots Langley
	 

	Abbots Langley
	scholar

	Abbots Langley
	scholar


24th October 1886  - At the Hemel Hempstead Petty Sessions held on Nov 10th BAD CONDUCT AT MARLOWES

Frederick Turner, John Turner and George Woods, lads from Leverstock Green were summoned on the information of PC Turner for using disgusting and obscene language in the public highway on Oct 24th.  They denied this.  PC had been on plain clothes duty and watching events.  Three lads had been harassing a group of girls. PC eventually stopped them and warned them off but they refused to give their names, he later chased and caught F Turner.
All three were fined 5/- each and bound over to keep the peace for six months. [Gazette Nov 13th  1886]

1901 census;

	Daniel
	Turner
	head
	m
	43
	 
	Brickmaker
	worker
	 
	Herts
	Nash Mills

	Caroline
	Turner
	wife
	m
	 
	40
	 
	 
	 
	Herts
	Hemel Hempstead

	Sarah
	Turner
	daughter
	s
	 
	20
	Envelope Maker
	worker
	 
	Herts
	Pimlico

	Allen
	Turner
	son
	s
	19
	 
	Moulder Cast Iron Founder
	worker
	 
	Herts
	Nash Mills

	Dorothy
	Turner
	daughter
	 
	 
	3
	 
	 
	 
	Herts
	High Street Green


The property was next door to the Three Horseshoes Public House.

24th June 1902 - This was the day set aside for the King’s coronation, however, unfortunately the King contracted appendicitis and by the day of the Coronation was only just recovering from an operation to rectify the problem which had developed into Peritonitis.  Despite the specific request of the King that the various feasts, and celebrations around the countryside should continue, most such arrangements were in fact cancelled.  Unfortunately this in turn led to riots in Hemel Hempstead and Watford ( and possibly elsewhere in the country) as special dinners had been laid on for the poor who were disappointed at the last moment.  Leverstock Green residents, however, bucked the trend and continued with its celebrations despite the postponing of the Coronation itself. The following is the report of these activities which appeared in the Gazette:

CORONATION FESTIVITIES AT LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

Unlike the large majority of towns and villages in West Herts. the inhabitants of Leverstock Green  proceeded with the celebration of the Coronation  in accordance with the official programme as arranged, and on Thursday the village was en fete from early morn till dawn.  AZ right royal time was spent buy old and young and the day will ever be remembered by those who shared in festivities.  At 9 am there was a celebration of Holy Communion in the church, the school children attending to sing the choral part to Morbecke’s tunes.  At 11 o’clock matins and an intercession service took place with special psalms and hymns.  After this a procession was formed of school children, decorated arts, cycles etc. And some of these were evident proof  of much taste and labour.  The feeding arrangements were a very important part and these began at 12 noon when all men and boys were given a hearty dinner in the barn at North End Farm.  Tickets for refreshments to the value of 4d and a ¼ oz packet of tobacco were distributed to each man.  The school children were given a meat tea at 4 o’clock and the women and girls sat down to a similar meal afterwards. There was an abundance of estables and no one was allowed to go short in this respect during the day. In the afternoon a series of athletic sports took place and these created considerable interest.  The results were: 100 yards race for boys under 15  1st J Seabrook, 2nd G Solesbury,  3rd B Wilson, 100 yards for girls & women over 15: 1st L Durrant, 2nd M Hart, 3rd E Sharp; 100 yards for girls under 15: 1st H Hart, 2nd P. Cox, 3rd S. Cole;  Wheelbarrow race: 1st M Latchford, 2nd F Barnes; 100 yards for men over 40: 1st S Solesbury, 2nd W Freeman,  3rd J Winch; 100 yards for men and boys over 15: 1st W Wells, 2nd, S Perry, 3rd M Latchford; quarter mile handicap 1st W Wells, 2nd F Taylor, 3rd M Latchford; Sack race 1st F Taylor, 2nd M Latchford, 3rd A Dell;  One mile cycle handicap 1st W| Parkins, 2nd  L. Seabrook,  3rd W Leno,; Stone picking race for men and boys: 1st H Hall, 2nd A Turner, Obstacle race: 1st M Latchford, 2nd G Wheeler, 3rd, W Dell.  Quoit tournament. 1st A Woodwards, 2nd  A Romsey.

16th May 1903 William Field, a Hemel Hempstead resident known as Pheny, was turned out of the Masons Arms, Leverstock Green no less than three times because he was too drunk to be served.  He then quarrelled with the landlady and tried to get in again. PC Perry was called and he took charge of Field, and Dr. Turner sent him to St. Albans for 10 days. [Gazette 14th May 2003]

Saturday 24th November 1906  In the Hemel Hempstead Gazettes of 1905 & 1906 there was frequent mention of football matches played by the Leverstock Green team - usually referred to just as The Green. One of the most exciting matches to be reported was played on this Saturday:

“LEVERSTOCK GREEN v ABBOTS LANGLEY

The Green journeyed to Abbots Langley on Saturday and defeated them by 4-3.  The ground was very wet owing to the thick fog.  The Green soon got going and the forwards raced up the field, and Plowman put in  lovely shot.  This was fisted out by the goal keeper, and How received it and banged it into the net.   This early review made Langley look up and play became very exciting, each side going very strong.  Langley, by a good bit of passing soon equalised.  The Green were at this time playing a good game and especially Hill at right-half who seemed to be just where wanted.  Plowman put in as good shot at about 20 yards range which scored Point No 2.  The Green were not having matters all their own way and the Langley forwards soon became dangerous and scored their second goal.  This was, however, offside, as the Langley forward stood under the bar.  Half-time arrived with the score reading 2-2.  

Upon the restart the Green broke away and for about 5 minutes were putting at goal.  Plowman at last put in a  ripping shot   which glanced off the crossbar and into the net.  The game was now getting very fast, both teams having an equal share of it.  Langley by a good shot scored point 3.  Both teams tried hard to increase the score and Rance from outside right put in a lightening shot which the goalkeeper failed to hold.  Langley tried hard to equalise and were pressing when the whistle blew for time.

All the green played well and it was by far the best game played by us this season.  Hall was however, the mainstay of the Green.  Seabrook also performed wonders in goal.  Of the forwards How and Plowman played very well.  Sears, at centre, played a good game, especially with his head.  Langley are a clever team and have some very good men.  The Green team was: Seabrook:goal, May & Turner: backs, Hill, Sears and Albion: halves, Rance, Thirnham, How Plowman & Jordon: forwards.”
[Gazette December 1st 1906]

Saturday January 17th 1914 - The 1st Leverstock Green Baden Powell Girl Guides held a very successful concert and play in the school. “The programme opened with an address by Mrs.. TD Cox.  Piano solos were given by Miss Hart, violin solos by Miss A Hart and Mrs.. Gamble,  songs by Mr. W Dell Guide 6 and recitations by Mr.. Wright.  “Cinderella” was performed by: Prince E M Durrant, Mulgy,  L Martin, Baroness S Seabrook; sisters  H Write & O Seabrook, ; Cinderella  Miss Cox;  Lords R patty & G Woolmer, Ladies L Steer & D Turner, Attendant W. Sharp.  The children were admirably trained by Miss Secretan and Captain Cox to whom much praise is due.  Mr. Michael Durrant announced the items and Mrs. TD Cox played suitable music during the play. The absence, through indisposition of the vicar & Mrs. Durrant was much regretted.” [Gazette January 24th 1914]

10th October  1914 : The Gazette carried the following patriotic information:
LEVERSTOCK GREEN  - SERVING THEIR COUNTRY: 

The men of Leverstock Green have responded well to the call of their King & country. The following is a list of those men who are serving:

R Atkins - territorial

Bennett - Royal Field Artillery

JA Bessant - artists corp.

H G Bennett - new Army

Child - New army

H Charge - new army

M Durrant - new army

L Goodman - reservist

E GOODENOUGH - NEW ARMY

T Ingham - Territorials

BJ Oakley - new army

WF Randell - RN Flying Corp.

HR Secretan - new army

RH Secretan - attached to Flying Corp.

Shadbolt - new army

MJ Simonds - new army

Colour Sergeant Smith - Oxford & Bucks Regiment

E Thorne - new army

Lance Corporal Turner - Royal Fusiliers.
Saturday 31st May 1919 -  There was a presentation in the village, reported the following week as follows:-

“On Saturday 31st May a presentation was made to Mr.. W.C. Child as an appreciation of his good work in the parish of Holy Trinity, Leverstock Green , as Sunday School teacher, people’s warden, and organist for many years.  The presentation took the form of a gold watch, with inscription, and an illuminated address, with list of subscribers as follows: 

The Rev. & Mrs... Durrant, Mr.. & Mrs... Bailey, Miss Bailey, Mr.. J. Bailey,  Mrs... de Beager, Mr.. & Mrs.. Bedford, Mr.. & Mrs.. Bessant, Mr.. & Mrs... Biggs, Mr.. & Mrs.. Biswell, Miss Bloxham, Mr.. & Mrs... W Brigginshaw, Mr.. & Mrs... C. Brigginshaw, Mrs... Briggs, Nurse Carter, Mr.. Charge, Mrs... Cooper, Mrs... Currell, Mr.. & Mrs... Cox, Mr.. & Mrs... J. Dell, Miss B. Dell, Mr.. & Mrs... F. Dell, Mr.. & Mrs.. G. Dell, Mrs... Doggett, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Edwards, Mr.. A. Finch, Mr.. & Mrs... Fountain, Mr.. & Mrs... Gambles, Mr.. & Mrs... Goodenough, Mrs... Grimwood, Mr.. & Mrs... Hallett. Mr.. & Mrs... Lyn Harding, Mr.. & Mrs... Horrowell, Mr.. & Mrs... Hart, Mrs... Hill, Miss Hobbs, Miss Hobday, Mr.. & Mrs... Howe, Mrs... Hutchins, Miss Ingham, Mr.. & Mrs... Latchford, Mr.. & Mrs... Martin, Mr.. & Mrs... Matthews, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Mears, Miss Mortimer, Mr.. Orchard, Mr.. Paradine, Mrs... Parkins, Mr.. & Mrs... Peddar, Mr.. & Mrs.. Perkins, Mr.. & Mrs.., Perry, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Seabrook, Miss Ethel  Seabrook, Mrs... Sears, Mrs... D. Sears, Mrs... W. Sears, Mr.. & Mrs... Secker, Mr. & Mrs... Secretan, Mr.. & Mrs... Shapcott, Mrs... Sharp, Mrs... S. Simons, Mr.. & Mrs... J. Steers,,  Mr.. & Mrs... W. Steers, Mr.. T. Toovey, Mr.. & Mrs... Turner, Mr.. Webster, Miss Whitehead, Miss A. Whitehead, Mr.. & Mrs... Wilson, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... G. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... W. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... W. Wright.

1922 -  The entry in Kelley's Directory for this year showed only a few changes.  One which possibly reflected the way life in general had been altered since the war, was that the seating in the church for 404 persons was now all free. The vicar and parish clerk remained unchanged from 1917, but the other principal offices in the village had undergone change. William Long was now sub-postmaster, and Constable John Major represented the County Constabulary.  The school appeared to be without staff as the position of schoolmaster or mistress was left blank.  There were surprisingly few changes in the list of residents and commercial undertakings. It can be noted, however, that Walter William Sears had succeeded his father William Walter, as builder.  See entry for 5th January 1918.  The directory's entry read as follows:

                              Residents.

Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury              
William Beecham, Wood Lane End

Charles Bessant, Tile Kiln              
William Chs. Child, Hill Side

Thomas Daniel Cox, Hill Farm            
Charles Thomas Drake, Hill House

Rev. Arthur Durrant, Vicarage            
Arthur Marston Junior, Bennetts End  Lodge

Herbert Secretan, The Dells                          Joseph Turner, Cox Pond                 

Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard.

Saturday January 17th 1914 - The 1st Leverstock Green Baden Powell Girl Guides held a very successful concert and play in the school. “The programme opened with an address by Mrs.. TD Cox.  Piano solos were given by Miss Hart, violin solos by Miss A Hart and Mrs.. Gamble,  songs by Mr. W Dell Guide 6 and recitations by Mr.. Wright.  “Cinderella” was performed by: Prince E M Durrant, Mulgy,  L Martin, Baroness S Seabrook; sisters  H Write & O Seabrook, ; Cinderella  Miss Cox;  Lords R patty & G Woolmer, Ladies L Steer & D Turner, Attendant W. Sharp.  The children were admirably trained by Miss Secretan and Captain Cox to whom much praise is due.  Mr. Michael Durrant announced the items and Mrs. TD Cox played suitable music during the play. The absence, through indisposition of the vicar & Mrs. Durrant was much regretted.” [Gazette January 24th 1914]

1933 - Kelley's Directory once more shows how life in the village was beginning to come into the twentieth century.   The list of private residents was increasing ( that is the better off members of the community who wished to be entered into the directory). For the most part the new building going on in the village was of individual reasonable sized dwellings which were given individual names. House numbers didn't generally appear in such a rural location for another few years.

Beer retailing had dwindled to 4 persons, plus Arthur Seabrook at the Leather Bottle.  Farming was still the chief occupation in the commercial sector. A new category of farmer - the small holder had appeared in the village with the entry of Joseph Rance, a smallholder of 3 Cox Pond . His daughter, Ivy Durrant kindly let me interview her in 1995. At 82, she remembered well that they moved into the cottages when newly built. Another new entry had appeared, that of a filling station, the internal combustion engine had obviously found its way to Leverstock Green, although the more traditional crafts of the smith and the wheelwright were still present.

The post office would appear to have altered its status, and was now billed as a T. & T.E.D. office ( whatever that may mean) The nearest money order office was now noted as being in Hemel Hempstead.

Although no mention was made of them, the village still had its own constable and teachers, now working at the new school in Pancake Lane. Three new professionals entered the scene, a doctor ( Bachelor of Medicine), the district nurse ( Miss Hendry ) and a home tutor for the blind. (Miss Kyrke-Penson)  The full list is as follows:

                                   Residents

Robert Adie, Denver, B.E.                 
Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury

Ralph Henry Barbour, Westwick House      
William Beecham,Wood Lane End

Mrs. Bessant,Tile Kiln, B.E.            
 Mrs. Bridge, The Little Lea

William Charles Child, Hill Side         
Archie, Fred. Day, Rook's Nest,B.E.

Miss M.O.Dell,Pancake Lane              
Charles Thos. Drake,Hill House

Rev.Arthur Durrant,Vicarage             
Charles Lamond Henderson,Ben.End Ho.

Sidney Herbert Lea M.D. Logandene     John Art.Marston,Orchard Lea,B.E.

George Miller, Two Ways                  
A.M. Plenderleith, Hill Farm House 

Captain Humphrey B. Secretan, M.C. ,The Dells

Mrs. M. Secretan, Tile Kiln Cottage     
 Charles James Turner, The Grange  (No idea where this was, does not appear on any maps)

Malc.R.Webster,  St. Michael's End        
Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard

Barbara A. Chapman Jan 2006

